## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT E. BLAKELY,

Defendant/Appellant,)

vs 🛛

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee. )

CASE NO. 72,604



APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Due to the failure of the clerk of the court in the lower tribunal to comply with Rule 9.200(d), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, it will be necessary to use the following symbols:

- "R" Original record on appeal filed with this Court in August of 1988 consisting of four (4) volumes containing a transcript of the trial (excluding jury selection), an excerpt of sentencing, and most of the pleadings. pp.1-595
- "SR" Supplemental record on appeal filed with this Court in August of 1988 consisting of two (2) volumes containing transcripts of sentencing hearings and proceedings. pp.1-285
- "VD" Second supplemental record filed with this Court in November of 1988 consisting of two (2) volumes containing voire dire, several pre-trial hearings, the hearing on the motion for new trial, and the Pre-Sentence Investigation Report.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 11, 1987, the Spring Term Grand Jury of Seminole County, Eighteenth Circuit of the State of Florida, returned an indictment charging Robert Ellis Blakely, the Appellant, with the premeditated murder of Elaine Blakely on April 20, 1987. (R296-298) The Office of the Public Defender originally represented Blakely. (R299-300,303) On June 12, 1987, Marvin Davis entered his notice of appearance in this cause as counsel for Robert Blakely. (R311,313-314) Blakely applied for partial indigency in that he had no available funds to pay for the costs of preparing his defense. The trial court determined that Blakely was in fact partially indigent. (R331-336,338-341)

Blakely moved for the appointment of an expert pursuant to Rule 3.216(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. In so doing, counsel stated he had reason to believe the defendant might be incompetent to stand trial and/or may have been insane at the time of the offense. Blakely also invoked his attorney/client privilege under the rules. (R342-343) The trial court granted the motion and appointed Dr. Robert Pollack, M.D., for purpose of evaluating Blakely and reporting to Blakely's counsel. The trial court ordered that all reports were subject to the attorney/client privilege. (R344-345) Dr. Pollack examined Robert Blakely on September 28, 1987. (R350) On the first day of jury selection, Marvin Davis, trial counsel for Robert Blakely, filed Dr. Pollack's psychiatric evaluation report with the clerk of the court. (R357-360)

- 2 -

On October 19, 1987, this cause proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable O.H. Eaton, Jr., Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, Seminole County, Florida. (VD1-217) During jury selection, Appellant's counsel objected to the state's systematic exclusion of jurors who were philosophically opposed to the death penalty. The trial court overruled the objection. (VD15-16) The trial court granted the state's challenge for cause of Jurors Licursi, Stephens, Water, and Marion on these grounds. (VD81, 114, 144-145) After the jury was selected, defense counsel again objected to the systematic exclusion of jurors who had moral or religious objections to the death penalty. The trial court again overruled the objection. (VD183-184) The state successfully challenged for cause several potential alternate jurors based upon their philosophical objections to the death penalty. (VD184-185)

The state presented the testimony of six witnesses during the guilt phase. (Rl-120) After the state rested, Blakely moved for a judgment of acquittal based on the insufficiency of the evidence relating to premeditation and identification. After hearing argument, the trial court denied the motion. (R121-128) Blakely presented no evidence at the guilt phase. (R128-130) During final summation by the prosecutor, the trial court overruled Appellant's objection that the state mischaracterized the evidence. (R152) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a verdict of guilty as charged to first-degree murder. (R177-179,362) The trial court adjudicated Blakely guilty. (R179,364-365)

- 3 -

The trial reconvened for the penalty phase on October 22, 1987. (R181-217) Both parties stipulated that Robert Blakely's only criminal offense was a 1969 DWI conviction in Missouri. (R181-182) Neither the state nor the defense presented any other evidence. Prior to the submission of the issue to the jury at the penalty phase, the state announced that it would not seek the death penalty if Blakely agreed to plead guilty to six (6) pending sexual charges. The state agreed to recommend that Blakely's resulting sentences would run concurrent with the sentence imposed for the murder conviction. Blakely declined the state's offer. (R182-183)

Blakely originally requested an opportunity to testify at the penalty phase. After much explanation and consultation, Blakely announced that he would follow his attorney's advice and waive his right to testify. (R183-188) At that point, the state requested that the court inquire into Blakely's mental state following Blakely's statements that his medication resulted in hallucinations and an inability to understand the trial proceedings. (R186,188-189) Following a brief inquiry, the trial court appeared satisfied and the trial resumed. (R189-191) After hearing the stipulation and the arguments of counsel, the jury returned with a unanimous recommendation that Robert Blakely be sentenced to death. (R212-215,432)

On November 2, 1987, Appellant filed a motion for new trial. (R456) Following a hearing, the trial court denied the motion. (VD233-256; R516) At that same hearing, the trial court granted Marvin Davis' motion to withdraw. (VD233-256; R516) On

- 4 -

January 19, 1988, the law firm of Cheek and Trotter filed a notice of appearance on behalf of Robert Blakely for sentencing purposes. (R515) After obtaining a continuance of the sentencing hearing, Blakely's new counsel filed a motion for appointment of experts and a motion to reimpanel the advisory jury. (R524-527) Appellant also requested permission to present evidence of additional mitigating circumstances. (SR210-218) The trial court ultimately granted Blakely's request to consider additional evidence in mitigation. (R566; SR1-285)

Prior to the sentencing hearing, Appellant moved to seal the psychiatric evaluation of Dr. Pollack. Appellant sought to prohibit the state from using the contents of that report. (R535-536) After hearing argument, the trial court denied the motion and ruled that the privilege relating to confidentiality had already been waived by Blakely's previous counsel's act of filing the report with the clerk of the court. (SR1-26) The trial court granted Appellant's motion for the appointment of an expert witness (Dr. Berland, a psychologist). (R537-539)

A sentencing hearing was had in this cause on March 29, 1988. (R544-545; SR1-115,234-286) The sentencing hearing continued on April 22, 1988. (R563; SR116-200) During the sentencing hearing, the trial court sustained several of the state's objections to certain testimony based upon hearsay and relevance. (SR52-55,62-70,86,90) The trial court also twice denied defense counsel the opportunity to proffer excluded evidence. (SR57-59,73-76) The trial court also limited the argument of Blakely's co-counsel. (SR57-59) Appellant introduced

- 5 -

several letters into evidence at the hearing. (SR107; R548-553,555-556) The state attempted to introduce a letter into evidence and defense counsel objected. (SR110-112; VD273; R547) In his sentencing order, the trial court indicated that it had not considered the objectionable letter. (R575) The trial court did admit Dr. Pollack's psychiatric report over defense counsel's strenuous objection. (SR163-165)

On May 5, 1988, Robert Blakely appeared for sentencing. (SR201-205) The trial court sentenced Robert Blakely to death. (R576-580; SR205) The trial court contemporaneously rendered a sentencing order finding two aggravating circumstances, i.e., (1) that the crime was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and (2) the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. In mitigation, the trial court found that Robert Blakely had no significant history of prior criminal activity. The trial court found that the nonstatutory mitigating factors asserted by Blakely either had not been established or had no mitigating value. (R566-575) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on May 27, 1988. (R589)

- 6 -

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### Guilt

Around Easter of 1987, Heidi Blakely was living with the rest of her family at 501 Wekiva Cove Road. Her family consisted of Robert, her father, Elaine, her step-mother, Tammy, her 14-year-old step-sister, and Brandy, Heidi's 12-year-old sister. (R78-79) Elaine Blakely, Heidi's step-mother, was a strict disciplinarian. (R88) Heidi's relationship with her step-mother was strained, to say the least. (R87) Elaine treated Tammy, her natural daughter, much better than she treated either Heidi or Brandy, Robert's natural daughters. (R88)

On April 19, 1987, Easter night, Heidi had gone to bed at the usual time of 7 p.m., an unusually early bedtime for a girl her age. (R79,87) Elaine had ordered Brandy to bed at 6:30 that evening for some unnamed transgression. (R87) Robert Blakely awakened Heidi at 1:15 the next morning and informed her that he had killed Elaine. (R79) He explained that he had done it for Heidi and Brandy. (R80) Heidi went into the living room where she noticed one or two empty beer cans and a small bottle of wine. She noticed that her father took a drink of wine. (R80-81) Heidi also noticed that all of the telephone receivers had been removed from their cradles. These were found under the kitchen sink the next day. (R82-83) Blakely would not allow Heidi to go into the master bedroom. (R81) He woke up Brandy at approximately 2:45 a.m. and Tammy about one hour after that. (R83-84) He instructed all of the girls to get dressed. (R82) Tammy stayed in her own room. (R84) Pursuant to her father's

- 7 -

instructions, Heidi went nextdoor to the Ludwig's and attempted to arouse the household by ringing the doorbell. (R82,84)

George Ludwig was ultimately summoned by Robert Blakel at his front door. Blakely told Ludwig, "Elaine is gone." (R94) Ludwig first thought that Elaine had simply left Robert, but it soon became apparent that Elaine was dead. (R94) Ludwig and Blakely eventually ended up at Blakely's kitchen table where Blakely explained that he had simply reached his breaking point. He explained that Elaine always gave the girls a hard time. (R95) Blakely never actually admitted to Ludwig that he had killed Elaine. (R95) Ludwig offered to call Blakely's lawyer, his priest, or help him call the police. (R98) Blakely said, "Yes, let's do it." (R98) Blakely's first call was to his lawyer, then Ludwig called the police and Blakely returned to his home to await their arrival. (R98-99)

Seminole County Deputy Yvette Willis arrived at 501 Wekiva Cove Road in the Longwood area of Seminole County at approximately 4:30 during the early morning hours of April 20, 1987. Deputy Willis had been dispatched to that address where she found Robert Blakely standing in the open front doorway. (R19-21,28) Deputy Willis noticed that Blakely was dressed and she noticed no blood or scratches nor anything out of the ordinary about Blakely's appearance. (R29-30) When Willis approached Blakely, he volunteered that he had killed his wife. (R21) After Blakely repeated his admission, Willis asked him where his wife was. (R21) Blakely escorted Willis to the master bedroom

- 8 -

on the south side of the home. (R21-22) In the lighted bedroom, Willis found the sheets and blanket pulled up over the bed's headboard. (R22) Willis pulled down the comforter and found blood stains on the sheet underneath. She then pulled the sheet down and removed two pillows covering the victim's facial area. Willis found a middle-aged, nude, white female lying on her back. She appeared to have severe injuries to her face and upper body. (R23) To the left side of the victim, Deputy Willis found a sledgehammer. (R23) Willis allowed the paramedics to check for vital signs before Willis secured the scene. She contacted headquarters and requested an investigator. (R24)

Willis escorted Blakely into the living room where Blakely sat on the couch. Willis stood next to him while others conducted the investigation of the scene. (R25) Although Willis did not ask Blakely any questions, Blakely did make some statements. Blakely stated, "I imagine you're not supposed to talk to someone like myself." When Willis did not respond, Blakely said that he could not believe that he had done the crime that he had committed. (R25) Blakely also stated, "I didn't mean to do it. We had an argument like people do, and then I don't remember. . . It affects so many lives, I wish I could bring her back, I didn't mean to do it." (R26) Willis made some written notations about Blakely's statements. Blakely appeared calm throughout the investigation. (R26) At one point Blakely fell asleep. (R27)

Deputy Billy Ray Lee, Jr. asked and received Blakely's permission to search the house. (R37) Blakely and three young

- 9 -

girls were the only occupants of the house at the time. (R40) Deputy Lee spoke with the girls as well as to George Ludwig, the next door neighbor. (R40) At one point, Lee had to wake Blakely in order to ask some questions. (R40-41) Blakely did not appear to be intoxicated. (R41) At the house, Lee recovered a small piece of cardboard on which Blakely had written his last will and testament. (R41-42; State's Exhibit #2)

An autopsy revealed that Elaine Blakely died of brain hemorrhage due to multiple skull fractures. Her injuries were consistent with being hit with a heavy instrument such as a (R102-110) The doctor was almost certain that sledgehammer. Elaine was rendered unconscious immediately upon the first blow. (R111) The medical examiner opined that Elaine was probably struck several times before the lethal blow was administered. He based this opinion on his conclusion that she might have moved her head during the administration of the blows. (R110,112) There was no indication that there had been a struggle. (R112-The injuries were consistent with Elaine sleeping in bed 113) with her head on the pillow when the first blow was delivered. (R112) There was a very strong probability that she was asleep at the time the first blow was delivered. (R112) The doctor concluded that she had been struck approximately eight times. (R115).

- 10 -

#### SENTENCING

The only additional evidence that the jury heard at the penalty phase was a stipulation from both parties that Robert Blakely's only previous criminal offense was a conviction for driving under the influence in Missouri from 1969. (R181-194) Although Blakely initially wanted to testify at the penalty phase, he waived that right after consultation with his attorney. (R183-188) After the trial court adjudicated Blakely guilty and denied the motion for new trial, Blakely's trial lawyer, Marvin Davis, withdrew from the case and Blakely retained the law firm of Cheek and Trotter. (VD233A-236A, 252A-255A, SR211) Blakely's new counsel asked the court to listen to additional evidence relating to mitigating circumstances. (SR210-211) Although the trial court initially concluded that such evidence should have been considered, if at all, by the jury, the court eventually relented and allowed presentation of additional mitigating evidence.

Robert Blakely had an extremely difficult and troubled childhood. Robert's father forced Robert's mother into prostitution. His father also sexually abused Robert's sisters. Robert himself was physically abused and knew about the sexual abuse of his mother and sisters. (R548-553,572; SR119-120) Robert's father was especially vicious after he had been drinking, which he did a lot. He used to beat Robert and his brother for absolutely no reason. When the father got angry, he usually focused that emotion on Robert and Raymond, Robert's brother.

- 11 -

(SR119-120) Robert suffered through the beatings silently, displaying no defiance. (SR120-121) The children were forced to be absolutely silent during dinner. (SR121) Joyce Johnson, Robert's oldest sister, described Robert as a good kid, one who did not get into trouble. (SR121) Robert was very quiet and unemotional as a child. Joyce remembered having to coax him out from under the bed in order to teach him to count. (SR121) Being the oldest, the care of her younger siblings fell to Joyce after their parents had foresaken that duty. While some of the children misbehaved during their youth, Robert gave Joyce absolutely no trouble. He was a very shy, quiet, well-behaved youngster. (SR123-124)

Robert Blakely was six-years old when his father was jailed for the sexual abuse of two of Robert's sisters. (SR27-28,31) Robert's mother could not support herself and her seven children alone. As a result, the family broke up. (SR31-32; VD263A) Robert's father was eventually placed in a series of mental institutions where he has remained ever since. (VD263A) The father initially attempted suicide by cutting his throat. (VD263A)

The Blakely children grew up in a series of orphanages, foster homes, and relatives' homes. (SR32) Robert and three siblings including Carol, one of his older sisters, lived at one point with Aunt Liz. (SR32) The four of them lived with the aunt, her husband, and their teenage son. (SR38-39) They lived on a farm and Robert was approximately ten years old at the time.

- 12 -

While living there, their teenage cousin tied up Joyce, Robert's oldest sister and raped her. The cousin forced Robert to stand at the door where Robert could easily see what was happening to his sister. (SR38-39, 123-124) Robert tried vainly to rescue his sister, but he was simply too young and too small. (SR38-39, 123-124)

The four oldest children were given a brief reprieve when all seven of the children got to live with their mother in a small shack for a few months. (SR39) When their mother remarried, the four oldest children, Robert included, were placed in a children's home in St. Joseph, Missouri. (SR39) While there, the other orphans were cruel to Robert. Carol, one of his older sisters, could not come to Robert's aid. She knew that Robert needed her but felt helpless, since she could not enter the young boys' dorm where the abuse occurred. (SR39-40) After about three years at the children's home, Carol was adopted and Robert went to live with foster parents. (SR39-40)

The home life of the Robert and Elaine Blakely family bore no resemblance to that of Ward, June, Wally and the Beaver. (SR41) The couple lived with Heidi, Tammy, and Brandy in Huntsville, Alabama before moving to Florida several months before the murder. Heidi and Brandy were Robert's fifteen and twelve-year-old daughters from a previous marriage. Tammy was Elaine's fourteen-year-old daughter from a previous marriage. (R78-79; VD263A) Elaine favored her natural daughter and was clearly more harsh and physically abusive toward her step-children. (VD265A; R87-88) On occasion, Elaine would beat Brandy and Heidi with a belt buckle. (SR43) She forced Heidi and Brandy to go to bed between five and seven p.m. even at their advanced ages. (SR45) This disparate treatment of the children caused constant problems in the marriage. (SR79-80)

Anna Tuohy, a friend of the family and the girls' school principal, agreed that Elaine gave preferential treatment to her own daughter. (SR77-81) Elaine expected Heidi and Brandy to perform at Tammy's scholastic level, even though they were intellectually inferior. When Heidi and Brandy did not live up to Elaine's expectations, she punished them by severely restricting their extracurricular activities. (SR80-81) Sometimes Robert's biological daughters got good grades. However, their step-mother would fail to reward them as she had previously (SR80-81) The situation deteriorated such that the promised. girls' teachers concealed grades so that the girls would not be unfairly punished. (SR81) Heidi attempted to run away from home two or three times. (SR85) The school principal advised Robert that he needed to stand up to Elaine for the sake of his daughters. (SR84) Shortly after that, Robert and Elaine separated, but only for a week. (SR85-86)

Elaine Blakely was clearly a dynamic woman. Her marriage to Robert Blakely was her third one. (VD263A) After her last divorce, Elaine got a job with an advertising firm in Huntsville, Alabama. She attracted clients any way that she could. She wined and dined them and behaved very seductively. She was not above exploiting her gender to get ahead. (SR55-56)

- 14 -

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