IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT ELLIS BLAKLEY,

Appellant,

SID J. WHITE

v.

CASE NO.

By Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar # 0302015 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- IX. The trial court properly found that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without pretense of moral or legal justification based on the fact that the evidence adduced below reflected that Blakley went into the garage immediately prior to the murder to secure a sledgehammer with which to bludgeon his sleeping wife to death and that such bludgeoning took eight blows reflecting a murderous and calculated intent on the part of Blakley both before and during the fatal attack.
- X. Blakley's argument that the aggravating factor that the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel is procedurally barred because it was not raised before the trial court below,
- XI. The death sentence imposed in the present case is in accordance with the dictates of <u>Lockett v. Ohio</u>, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) as <u>Lockett</u> does not stand for the proposition that unmitigating facts must be considered mitigating at sentencing simply because the trial judge is compelled to hear them. <u>Lockett</u> and <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 107 S.Ct. 1821 (1987), only require that the judge hear all evidence offered in mitigation not that he actually find it mitigating.
- XII. The claim that Blakley's death sentence is unconstitutional because the responsibility of the jury's role in sentencing was diminished is barred pursuant to <u>Dugger v. Adams</u>, 109 S.Ct. 121 (1989).
- XIII. Blakley lacks standing to raise the issue of systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury as he is, himself, a white man, and even assuming that he had such standing he is

procedurally barred from raising this issue and the issue that prospective jurors were excluded because of their views on capital punishment because such grounds were not raised below.

XIV. The claim that the Florida capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied is procedurally barred as such ground was not raised below.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT IMPROPERLY USE A CONFIDENTIAL PSYCHIATRIC EVALUATION IN VIOLATION OF BLAKLEY'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS, EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AND HIS RIGHT RELATING TO SELF-INCRIMINATION.

On August 17, 1987, Marvin Davis, Blakley's trial lawyer, filed a pretrial motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.216(a), requesting the court to appoint an expert advisor, Robert Pollack, M.D. (R 342-343). Counsel stated in the motion that he had reason to believe that Blakley might be incompetent to stand trial and/or might have been insane at the time of the offense (R 342). The trial court rendered an order on August 19, 1987, appointing Dr. Pollack and ordered all reports delivered to Blakley's lawyer (R 344-345). Dr. Pollock found Blakley both competent to stand trial and sane at the time of the offense.

On October 19, 1987, trial counsel filed Dr. Pollack's confidential psychiatric evaluation in open court with the clerk of the lower tribunal (R 357-360). After the trial, Blakley retained another lawyer to represent him at sentencing (VD 233-256; R 515-516). Prior to the sentencing hearing, Blakley's new counsel moved to seal the psychiatric evaluation and sought to prohibit the state from using the contents of that report (R 535-536). The trial court denied the motion and ruled that the privilege relating to confidentiality had already been waived by Blakley's previous counsel's action of filing the report with the

clerk of the court (SR 1-26). The state later introduced Dr. Pollack's report into evidence over objection (SR 172-177).

At the sentencing hearing a forensic psychologist testified that Blakley suffered from a mental illness before and at the time of the murder (SR **236-285).** The state announced intention to call Dr. Pollack as a witness in rebuttal (SR 155). Defense counsel objected and asserted Blakley's attorney/client privilege (SR 155-165) and argued that the state was aware that Blakley intended to present evidence of his mental state in mitigation and that the state could have obtained their own psychiatrist to examine Blakley to attempt to rebut presentation of this evidence (SR 155-165). Although Dr. Pollack ultimately did not testify, the state introduced the doctor's report into evidence over Blakley's objections based on privilege and hearsay (SR 163-165). The trial court overruled Blakley's objections and accepted the report into evidence (SR 1650).

In sentencing Blakley to death, the trial court relied on Dr. Pollack's evaluation in refuting the conclusions and expert opinions espoused by Dr. Berland, a psychologist who testified for the defense at the sentencing hearing (R 569-570).

Blakley contends on appeal that his privilege relating to confidentiality was not waived by his previous counsel's unauthorized act of filing Dr. Pollack's report with the clerk of the court prior to the commencement of the trial, citing <u>Wisry v. State</u>, 428 So.2d 713 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), and that Blakley never had the opportunity to assert his privilege in contravention of section 90.508, Florida Statutes (1987). Blakley also contends

that the trial court's use of Dr. Pollack's report violated his constitutional rights relating to self-incrimination as well as his right to counsel in violation of <u>Estelle v. Smith</u>, 451 U.S. 454 (1981).

In Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454 (1981), the Court held that a court-ordered psychiatric examination of the defendant amounted to interrogation. Therefore, the Court found that the statements made by the defendant in such an examination were inadmissible. The court relied on the psychiatrist testimony not only about the defendant's competence but also about his future dangerousness, which was an important factor in the Texas sentencing structure. However, the Court in Buchanan v. Kentucky, 107 S.Ct. (1987), limited Estelle to its specific facts. The Court noted that when a defendant asserts the insanity defense, introduces supporting psychiatric testimony, or requests a psychiatric examination, he has no Fifth Amendment privilege against the introduction of psychiatric testimony by the prosecution. S.Ct. at 2917-2918. In Buchanan the Court held that introduction of a psychiatric report concerning the defendant's mental state for rebuttal testimony did not violate the Fifth Amendment when all of the defendant's statements dealing with the crimes were omitted. Id. at 2918. The present case would clearly fall within the ambit of Buchanan. The issue in this case is not whether counsel could file such a report. did file such a report. The attorney-client privilege seems to be used in this case as a smoke screen. It is clear that Blakley sought the opinion of an expert and in such interviews sought to

portray himself in the light of not only an incompetent but one who was psychologically disturbed at the time of the crime. effort failing, Blakley then sought to turn the attorney-client privilege to his own benefit and continue with his charade. Although it cannot be known on this silent record the motivations behind the filing of such report by counsel, one with the barest scintilla of perception would probably deem it an act of integrity, since Blakley continued at trial to portray himself as such a highly disturbed individual. Blakley, himself, opened the door to the issue of competence by his own actions at trial. that point in time Blakley waived his Fifth Amendment privilege introduction of psychiatric testimony Blakley really complains that his belated attempt to establish unwarranted mitigating mental factors failed, which inevitable in view of their obvious non-existence. was Nevertheless, Blakley was given a second shot and a second expert in which to convince the judge otherwise. Having had a new attorney and a second opportunity, Blakley can hardly complain that the state was able to rebut such evidence.

POINT II

THE DEATH SENTENCE IMPOSED IN THIS CASE FOR FIRST-DEGREE MURDER IS NOT COMPARATIVELY INAPPROPRIATE.

Blakley contends that his death sentence is disproportionate when compared to other cases reviewed by this court and cites Proffitt v. State, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987), Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981), Halliwell v. State, 323 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1975), Caruthers v. State, 465 So.2d 496 (Fla. 19851, Wilson v. State, 493 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 19861, Rembert v. State, 445 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1984), Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1982) and Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1985). These cases are factually distinguishable from the present case.

Proffitt, Rembert and Menendez involved homicides committed during burglaries or robberies unaccompanied by any additional acts of abuse or torture to the victim where the defendants had no prior record of criminal or violent behavior. Proffitt involved a burglary gone wrong where the defendant possessed no weapon when he entered the premises and apparently had no In Menendez, there was no direct evidence homicidal intentions. of a premeditated murder. In Rembert, the defendant hit the victim once or twice with a club and the victim, who was elderly, died several hours later of brain injury. In Caruthers, the defendant, who had been drinking, carried out a spur-of-themoment robbery. He had not planned to shoot the clerk but when she jumped he began firing at her. In all of these cases, unlike the present one, there appears to be a complete absence of

murderous intent. The murder in the present case simply cannot be excused on a felony-gone-wrong theory.

In Welty, the defendant picked-up the intoxicated victim, went to his condominium and engaged in homosexual acts, then left, taking the victim's stereo and automobile. returned with a roommate to steal other items, struck the victim several times in the neck, manually strangled him and set fire to his bed. Although the trial court found no mitigating factors, there was evidence introduced by Welty relative to nonstatutory mitigating factors which could have influenced the jury to return life recommendation. Unlike the present case, the jury recommended life and the trial judge overrode recommendation. In view of such recommendation, this court found that the sentence of death was inappropriate. 402 So.2d at 1165.

In <u>Halliwell</u>, the sole aggravating circumstance was found not to apply and there were numerous mitigating factors warranting the reduction of the sentence from death to life imprisonment. While the case involved a domestic dispute, the rationale for the overturning of the death sentence was error in the aggravation/mitigation equation and not the fact of a domestic dispute. <u>See</u>, <u>Williams v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 133, 137 (Fla. 1983).

In <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 493 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1986), the murder of Sam Wilson, Sr., was the climax of what was characterized as "a heated domestic confrontation." The defendant in that case began attacking his stepmother with a hammer when she told him to keep out of the refrigerator. When Wilson, Sr., came to her aid,

the defendant, Wilson, Jr., proceeded to beat him in the head with the hammer. The struggle continued throughout the house. When the stepmother got a pistol at Wilson, Sr.'s, request, Wilson, Jr. grabbed it and shot his father in the forehead. Unlike the circumstances in the present case, this court was forced to conclude that under those circumstances the killing, although premeditated, was most likely upon reflection of a short duration. See, Roberts v. State, 510 So.2d 885, 895 (Fla. 1987).

In this court found the death Ross. sentence disproportionate after concluding that the record evidenced significant mitigating circumstances which the trial court failed to consider. In Ross, the evidence established that appellant killed his wife during an angry domestic dispute. There was evidence that Ross was an alcoholic and that he had been drinking at the time of the killings, but had no prior history of violence. It was also evidenced that Ross was having difficulty controlling his emotions prior to the killing. court found that the trial court erred in not considering those circumstances collectively as a significant mitigating factor. In the present case, unlike the situation in Ross, there was a concerted effort to kill Elaine Blakley which did not arise as the result of an ordinary domestic dispute.

In terms of calculation and the method of killing, this case is akin to <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987), in which the defendant calmly reached into his car, retrieved a baseball bat and repeatedly beat the victim in the back of the head. A similar case in terms of the "domestic dispute" aspect in

Williams v. State, 437 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 1983). Williams and his longtime girlfriend had been involved in long standing domestic arguments and on the night of the murder, Williams borrowed a gun and shot her to death. The court noted that the case, as the present one, did not involve a jury override or inapplicable aggravating factors and numerous mitigating factors. The same deliberateness present in Williams is also present in this case. Thus, the death sentence imposed in this case is not comparatively inappropriate.

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH PREMEDITATION AND THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.

After the state rested, Blakley moved for a judgment of acquittal based on the insufficiency of the evidence relating to premeditation and identification. After hearing argument, the trial court denied the motion (R 121-128). Blakley concedes on appeal that he cannot contest the issue of identification where he volunteered several statements at the scene that he had killed his wife and further, cannot contest the <u>fact</u> of the killing in light of these incriminating statements.

On appeal Blakley questions only the sufficiency of the evidence on the issue of premeditation on the basis of the statements he made at the scene that "I didn't mean to do it. We had an argument like people do, and then I don't remember . . . it affects so many lives, I wish I could bring her back, I didn't mean to do it." (R 26) Blakley further contends that the evidence did not support the conclusion that the murder weapon was not in the bedroom on the day of the murder. Blakley also contends that he had been drinking at the time of the offense, and that voluntary intoxication, although not a complete defense, is available to negate the specific intent of premeditation, such that first-degree murder is not proven.

Premeditation is a fully-formed conscious purpose to kill, which exists in the mind of the perpetrator for a sufficient

length of time to permit reflection and in pursuance of which the act of killing ensues. Premeditation may be formed a moment before the act, but must exist for a sufficient length of time to permit reflection as to the nature of the act to be committed and the probable result of that act. Provenzano v. State, 497 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1986); Wilson v. State, 493 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1986). It is clear that Blakley premeditated.

While Blakley's statements seem to indicate that he could no longer tolerate his domestic situation, they do not indicate that any sort of battle or struggle erupted immediately prior to the murder of his wife. This is consistent with the testimony of the medical examiner, Dr. Gumersindo Garay, who testified that there were no defensive wounds on the hands or arms of the victim (R 111) and that, in his opinion, the injuries were consistent with the victim laying asleep in bed or just waking up (R 112).

Blakley's daughter Heidi Blakley testified that he kept all of his tools in the garage (R 85), and that she never saw the murder weapon in the master bedroom but only a rubber mallet and screwdrivers and wrenches (R 86;89). As a matter of logic, since Blakley was only hanging vertical blinds in the master bedroom there would be no need to use a sledgehammer.

The daughter further testified that there were only two cans of beer in the living room and a little Riunite red wine bottle and that after the murder Blakley took a drink from the Riunite bottle but it contained only three inches of wine. (R 81). George Ludwig, who saw Blakley immediately after the murder, testified that he could understand the words Blakley was saying

and that Blakley did not appear to be under the influence of alcoholic beverages (R 95). Voluntary intoxication, therefore, is not a viable defense in this case, was not raised below, and should not be considered for the first time on appeal.

Also consistent with premeditation in this case is the fact that Blakley took the receivers off the telephones prior to the murder (R 82). They were later found under the kitchen sink (R 83). This would seem to clearly indicate planning on the part of Blakley. It also reflects that even if there had been some sort of disagreement between the Blakleys, which fact is not supported by any evidence, there was a sufficient cooling-off period for Blakley to deliberate murdering his wife.

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